
Gloucestershire Schools Forum

Wednesday 30 March 2022 at 2.00 pm 

Remote Meeting

IMPORTANT NOTICE:
THIS MEETING WILL BE HELD REMOTELY AND CAN BE

VIEWED VIA: WWW.GLOUCESTERSHIRE.GOV.UK





Gloucestershire Schools Forum
Wednesday 30 March 2022

2.00 pm – 3:00pm

Remote Meeting

AGENDA

1  APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE Joanne Bolton

2  DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

Members of the Forum must declare an interest in any agenda item where 
the outcome may give them a direct pecuniary advantage or avoid a 
disadvantage.  

Joanne Bolton

3  PUBLIC QUESTIONS 

To receive any public questions.

Questions can be asked on the day or sent to the Clerk before the
meeting. If you would like to ask a question on the day of the meeting,
please contact the Clerk Joanne Bolton (email:
joanne.bolton@gloucestershire.gov.uk) (Tel: 01452 324197), by 10:00am
on Monday 28 March 2022, so that arrangements can be made as the
meeting is being held remotely via video conferencing.

The Chair will advise the timescale for any questions asked on the day of
the meeting or received less than 3 working days before the meeting. A
written answer will be provided if questions are received 3 clear working
days before the date of the meeting.

Joanne Bolton

4  MINUTES (Pages 1 - 16)

To agree the minutes of the meeting held on 13 January 2022 and note 
actions.

Joanne Bolton

5  EARLY YEARS (Pages 17 - 38) Sarah Hylton, 
Suzanne Hall

6  LOCAL AUTHORITY SCHOOL IMPROVEMENT GRANT (Pages 39 - 54) Clare Dudman

7  F40 UPDATE Philip Haslett

8  DATE OF NEXT MEETING 

The next meeting of the Schools Forum will take place at 2:00pm on 
Thursday 16 June 2022.



GENERAL ARRANGEMENTS

1. In the event of the Forum not being able to complete the meeting, the Forum will
reconvene at 2:00 pm on Thursday 31 March 2022.

2. Members of the public will be able to view the Schools Forum meeting via
www.gloucestershire.gov.uk

3. The recorded meeting will be posted on the Gloucestershire County Council website as
soon as possible following the meeting.

4. If you have any general queries about the meeting, please contact the Clerk: Joanne
Bolton (email: joanne.bolton@gloucestershire.gov.uk) (Tel: 01452 324197).

http://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/


1

GLOUCESTERSHIRE SCHOOLS FORUM
Minutes of a meeting held on Thursday 13 January 2022

The meeting was held remotely.

Present:

David Alexander - Secondary Headteacher (Maintained)
Alison Berry - Secondary School Governors (Academy)
Lyn Dance - Special School Head Teacher
Anne-Marie Delrosa - Secondary School Governors (Maintained)
Elisa Entwistle - Alternative Provision Schools
Rhian Evans - Primary School Governors (Maintained)
Mikey Ezewudo - Primary School Governors (Maintaned)
Peter Hales - Primary School Governors (Academy)
Andrew Harris - Community Representative
Amanda Horniman - Primary School Headteachers (Maintained)
Rachel Howie - Gloucester Diocese
Lisa Jones - Primary School Headteachers (Maintained)
Becky Martin - Special School Governors (Maintained)
Julia Maunder - Secondary School Headteachers (Academy)
Dermot McNiffe - Secondary School Headteachers (Academy)
Will Morgan - Secondary School Headteachers (Academy)
Sarah Murphy - Unions
Alexander Norman - Secondary School Governors (Academy)
Poppy Scott Plummer - Secondary School Governors (Academy)
Clare Steel - Special School Headteachers (Maintained)

Substitutes: Isobel Griffey, Gloucestershire Parent Carer Forum
Officers: Kirsten Harrison, Director of Education

Philip Haslett, Head of Education Strategy and Development
Neil Egles, Finance Manager, Schools Strategy and Capital
Suzanne Hall, Finance Business Partner, Strategic Finance
Joanne Bolton, Democratic Services Adviser and Clerk to the
Schools Forum

Apologies: Matthew Bishop, Primary School Governors (Maintained)
Helen Bond, Gloucestershire Parent Carer Forum
Penny Chislett, Post-16 Education
Stephen Dean, Primary School Headteachers (Academy)
Elaine Le Gros, Primary School Headteachers (Maintained)
Kate Hawkins, Special School Governors (Academy)
Gwyneth Keen, Early Years Providers
Chris Spencer, Director of Children’s Services

Page 1

Agenda Item 4



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

2 

1. ELECTION OF THE SCHOOLS FORUM VICE CHAIR 

Rachel Howie, Gloucester Diocese representative, was duly elected Vice Chair of the 
Schools Forum (until June 2023).

2. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

No declarations of interest were made.

3. PUBLIC QUESTIONS 

No public questions had been received.

4. MINUTES 

4.1 The minutes of the previous meeting held on 11 November 2022, were approved as a 
correct record. 

4.2 The Head of Education Strategy and Development gave an update on the School 
Improvement Grant changes.  He reported that the DfE had now published the 
consultation response.  This confirmed that the grant would reduce by 50% for the 
financial year 2022/23 and that the grant would end in 2023/24.  The local authority 
held a consultation meeting with a group of stakeholders in December 2021, to 
discuss the impact of the loss of this grant and to explore the potential solutions to 
mitigate the loss.  He informed members that the notes of the meeting were attached 
to the Action Sheet.  He explained that now the outcome of the consultation had been 
published, the local authority would be consulting with the group of stakeholders again 
to work on formulating a proposal for the future funding of school improvement 
activities.  The local authority’s final proposals would be considered at the next Forum 
meeting on 30 March 2022. 

4.3 Following a request at the November Forum meeting, members were provided with a 
detailed briefing on the pressures and challenges being experienced by the Council’s 
Home to School Transport Service, and the resulting impact on the budget.  Members 
were advised that whilst decisions on the funding of Home to School Transport were 
not within the Forum’s areas of responsibility, it was linked to certain areas that were.  
For example, the rising cost of SEND transport which was in part due to the continuing 
growth in Education Health and Care Plans (EHCP)  (30% rise over the last 3 years).

4.4 The Forum noted that many SEN transport routes were being retendered by the 
Integrated Transport Unit (ITU) through the framework.  In light of the current lack of 
competition (due to economic and pandemic related reasons), this was resulting in 
significantly higher contract costs (in some cases 2-3 times higher).  A member 
referred to the example outlined in the report which detailed a quote for a 6-mile 
journey costing £365 a day (£71,000 per academic year), and commented that this did 
not represent the best use of public funds.  A question was asked on whether this was 
reasonable grounds to decline a specifically named place (rather than local provision), 

Page 2

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/1045633/Government_response_-_Reforming_how_LA_SI_functions_are_funded.pdf


Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

3 

on the basis that it would impact on the provision of the efficient education of others.  
The Head of Education Strategy and Development acknowledged that due to the 
current lack of competition, the Council was in effect being forced into a situation 
where it had to spend a significant amount of public money to cover some of the home 
to school journeys.  He explained that he would need to check the statutory guidance 
and provide an answer in due course.
ACTION: The Head of Education Strategy and Development

4.5 A member representing Special School Headteachers on the Forum emphasised how 
difficult it was for the officers in the School Transport Team to manage the logistical 
challenge of not having enough drivers and escorts to cover the journeys for children 
attending special schools.   In an aim to try and reduce costs, more children were 
being accommodated in the same vehicle, meaning much earlier pick-up times for 
some children which was having an impact on the way in which children at special 
schools were coming into school.  She acknowledged that there was no easy solution 
to the current situation, and explained that special schools were working closely with 
the Home to School Transport Team, to help and provide support in finding a suitable 
way forward.  In response, the Head of Education Strategy and Development 
confirmed that an external consultant had been commissioned to carry out a full 
review of the Home to School Transport Service.  The consultant had experience of 
undertaking reviews in other local authority areas, and the Council was looking to 
learn from best practice.  In addition, the ITU in conjunction with Procurement were 
investigating options for improving the situation in the medium to longer term including 
the possibility of a pilot in-house mini fleet of accessible vehicles.  

5. GLOUCESTERSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL BUDGET CONSULTATION 2022/23 

5.1 The Finance Business Partner gave an overview of the County Council budget 
proposals and provided details on the specific budget information relating to Children 
and Families.  (For information: a copy of the presentation sides covering each 
agenda item has been uploaded to the Council’s website.)

5.2 Forum members were reminded that the budget consultation was open until 12:00pm 
on 21 January 2022 and they could respond individually if they so wished.  It was 
noted that final approval of the budget would be considered at the Cabinet meeting on 
26 January 2022 and at the Full Council meeting on 16 February 2022.

5.3 The Forum noted the report.

6. DEDICATED SCHOOLS GRANT 2022/23 

6.1 The Head of Education Strategy and Development presented the report on the 
Dedicated Schools Grant (DSG) for 2022/23. 

6.2 The Forum was informed that the 2022/23 DSG announced on 16th December 2021 
totalled £547.222M.  An additional Supplementary Grant of £15.284M had also been 
announced giving total funding of £562.506M.  The Supplementary Grant was in addition 
to the Schools and High Needs block DSG funding calculated under the National Funding 

Page 3



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

4 

Formula (NFF).  The increase in funding was to recognise the additional costs that local 
authorities and schools would face in the coming year, which were not foreseen when the 
original allocations were calculated.  This included the Health and Social Care Levy, that 
would be applied initially through increased national insurance contributions from 
employers.  

6.3 The Head of Education Strategy and Development confirmed that this represented an 
overall increase in funding of £38.662M (7.4%) from the 2021/22 DSG.  After taking into 
account the previously agreed growth fund of £1.3M, the funds allocated in the DSG 
Schools block settlement were enough to allow each formula factor rate and the 
minimum funding levels to be implemented 100% at the NFF level and for the Minimum 
Funding Guarantee to be set at the same +2% level as the funding floor within the NFF.

6.4 It was reported that the Schools Supplementary Grant funding for Early Years and Post-16 
provision in schools was provided in respect of the Health and Social Care Levy and would 
be allocated on a simple per-pupil basis.  The additional funding for mainstream school 
provision for pupils aged 5 to 16 was provided in respect of both the Health and Social Care 
Levy and wider cost pressures.  The Forum noted the details on the amount each school 
would receive as outlined in the report.

6.5 Members welcomed the news on the announcement of the Supplementary Grant, 
particularly as it was thought that schools would have to bear the additional costs in 
respect of the Health and Social Care Levy.  In response to a question, it was clarified 
that the DfE had not provided any further information on what other cost pressures 
schools should use the funding for.  However, officers suggested that it may be the DfE’s 
intention for schools to cover the increase in teacher starting salaries to £30k per year 
through this additional funding, although no announcements had been made on this as 
yet.  In response to a question, it was clarified that the Supplementary Grant would be 
rolled into the NFF in future years, so the relevant formula factors would all see an 
increase.  

6.6 It was acknowledged that increases to the salaries of newly qualified teachers would 
have an impact on the salaries of the other teaching staff in schools.  The Head of 
Education Strategy and Development commented that the Government had made the 
pledge to increase teacher starting salaries to £30k per year in 2019, but there had 
been no clear and definitive timeline on when this would be implemented.  The 
Forum’s Union representative informed members that the teachers’ unions were 
lobbying the Pay Review Body for the pay rises of newly qualified teachers to be 
government funded.  The unions were working on the basis that the pay rise would be 
implemented in two years’ time.

6.7 The Forum noted that the local authority has been able to deliver the NFF in full, this 
would leave a balance of £0.307M in the 2022/23 Schools block.  The Head of 
Education Strategy and Development explained that the LA was proposing that the 
balance of the Schools block be used as a on-off contribution to support the 1 in 40 
High Needs Model.  The 1 in 40 rule was a local funding decision - some but not all 
LAs had the provision, or had variations to it, to support schools which attracted a 
high number of children with additional needs.  Members were informed of how the 1 

Page 4



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

5 

in 40 rule was calculated.  It was explained that the number of pupils on roll was 
divided by 40, that figure was then the maximum number of pupils with high needs 
that a school would pay the sum of £6,000 for.  For each High Needs pupil over that 
number, a school would receive the top-up funding and the sum of £6,000. 

6.8 It was reported that Pupil Premium grants for 2022/23 had also been announced and 
had been increased in-line with inflation. 

6.9 The Finance Business Partner reported that for Early Years, the funding announcements 
on 16 December 2021 included an increase in the hourly funding rates by 17p for three 
and four year olds and 21p for two-year-olds.  In addition to this increase there was an 
increase of £27,205 to the Disability Access Fund and an increase of £60,544 for Pupil 
Premium, giving an overall decrease to the Early Years block of £440,268 for 2022/23.  
In response to a question, it was clarified that the decrease to the Early Years Block was 
due to the fact that the formula for the distribution of funding was based on the number of 
pupils in Early Years as informed by the Census data.  Consequently, the funding 
fluctuated in accordance with pupil numbers and the cost of the available funding levels.  
The current figures were based on the January 2021 census.  There would be further 
updates in the summer 2022 and summer 2023 for the January pupil counts which would 
reflect more accurately the picture than the January 2021 census, as the pupil numbers 
in the January Census would have been lower due to the impact of Covid-19.  

6.10 The Forum was informed that the final Early Years balance was £1.464M. The 
2022/23 budget would be based on the May 2021, October 2021 and January 2022 
census and the summer and autumn terms budget would be notified by the DFE in 
January 2022.  This information was currently being analysed and a decision on the 
use of the balances for last year would be taken at the next Schools Forum meeting on 
30 March 2022.

6.11 The Forum considered the Central School Services block allocation information.  This 
block included funding for the on-going responsibilities of local authorities for the 
statutory duties that they held for both maintained schools and academies.  The 
allocation was based on a formula using pupil numbers (90%), free school meals (Ever 
6, 10%) with an area cost adjustment applied.  It was noted that the rate per pupil for 
2022/23 had increased by £1.90 to £36.09 and there had been an increase of 713 
pupils resulting in a £0.180M (6.5%) increase and a total allocation of £2.964M.

6.12 The Forum was informed that the High Needs block had been allocated an additional 
£6.968M.  On top of this a further £2.989M had been allocated through the 
Supplementary Grant, bringing the total High Needs funding for 2022/23 up to 
£84.310M, an increase of 13.4%.  The local authority was working with the ESFA, and 
other local authorities via the southwest regional network, to explore the potential 
options around how the Supplementary Grant could best be allocated in the Special 
School and Alternative Provision sector.  Officers were planning to meet with the 
Gloucestershire Association of Special School Headteachers (GASSH) (including 
Alternative Provision headteachers) to put forward the proposals on the way forward.  
A firm proposal on how the Supplementary Grant for High Needs would be allocated 
would then be brought to a future Forum meeting for approval.

Page 5



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

6 

Having considered all of the information presented:

 The Forum noted the DSG settlement for 2022/23.
 The Forum recommended that Council agree the school funding 

formula for 2022/23, as set out in Annex A to the report. 
 The Forum agreed that the balance on the Schools block could be 

used at year end as a one-off contribution to support the continuation 
of the 1 in 40 High Needs model. 

 The Forum noted the information on the additional funding that 
would be received through the separate Schools Supplementary 
Grant.

 The Forum agreed to 
a.  apply the 0.17p increase to the hourly rate for 3 and 4 year olds 
and to consult with the Early Years Forum on the formula distribution 
b.  apply the 0.21p to the base rate for 2 year olds as set out in 
section 4. 

 The Forum agreed the allocation of the Central School Services 
block as set out in the report.

7. HIGH NEEDS 

7.1 The Head of Education Strategy and Development presented the report on the 
2021/22 High Needs forecast and the current growth trends in Education Health and 
Care Plans (EHCP).

7.2 He reported that since the Schools Forum meeting in September 2021 there had been 
a further £613,000 increase in forecast expenditure, resulting in a forecast in-year 
deficit of just over £5.7M.  The increased forecast expenditure was being driven by 
higher than forecast EHCP costs.  The growth trend for EHCPs requests had 
continued to rise throughout the autumn terms.  January 2021 to December 2021 saw 
an increase of 425 plans.  The assumption was that that there would be an increase of 
450 plans in the full 12-month period – 100 more plans than budgeted for.  This had 
resulted in forecast expenditure for Primary EHCP costs increasing by £230k, 
Secondary EHCP costs by £120k and the cost of specialist placements by £250k.

7.3 The Forum was informed that the forecast deficit position for 2021/22 of £5.7M was 
greater than the previous year (£5.4M).  The local authority had set out with the aim to 
see an improved position this year, but the 2% increase in top-up rates, significant 
increases in support for EHCPs in Post-16 and further education and the increase in 
initial requests for EHCPs had meant that the LA has been unable to reduce the in-
year deficit position. 

7.4 A table showing Gloucestershire’s position in comparison to the national picture and 
that of Gloucestershire’s statistical neighbours was presented.  The Head of Education 
Strategy and Development explained that despite the growth Gloucestershire was 
experiencing, the percentage of the population supported by an EHCP in 
Gloucestershire was lower in both instances.  It was therefore evident that 

Page 6



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

7 

Gloucestershire was not an outlier in terms of the pressures that the SEND service 
was facing. The local authority therefore wanted to avoid making reactionary local 
decisions that would negatively affect the quality of provision for children with 
additional needs, when this was clearly a national issue requiring national reform. 

7.5 The Forum noted the draft 5-year plan.  The Head of Education Strategy and 
Development emphasised that refining and being clear on the assumptions regarding 
EHCP growth would be critical for the local authority to lay out an effective 5-year plan 
that could bring the High Needs budget back into a balanced in-year position.  The 
Forum agreed that the development of the forecast and the underlying assumptions 
would be a priority for the High Needs Budget Working Group in the spring term.  The 
local authority planned to test the assumptions contained within the draft 5-year plan 
with the Group, looking at the impact of the adjustments, before the plan was brought 
to the Forum meeting in June 2022 for approval.  

7.6 The Head of Education Strategy and Development explained that the local authority 
had based its forecasting on the premise that the additional funding coming into the 
High Needs Block over the past three financial years would continue going forward.  
The DfE had very recently announced that it was considering a 5% increase for High 
Needs funding in 2023/24 and a 3% increase in 2024/25, therefore resulting in a tailing 
off of this additional funding.  He emphasised that this would result in at least an 
additional £20M of cumulative deficit in Gloucestershire.  He informed members that 
he had raised this issue with the F40 Group and had suggested that the F40 advocate 
for the current funding levels to be maintained, at least until the SEND Review was 
published and the reform commenced so that there was no destabilisation of the 
current funding levels. 

7.7 The Head of Education Strategy and Development reported that the DfE and ESFA 
were in discussions with some of the local authorities with the largest High Needs 
deficits.  Gloucestershire’s position was as good as could reasonably be expected 
given the pressures and challenges.  Some local authorities had in-year deficits 
greater than Gloucestershire’s overall cumulative deficit figure.  The local authority 
had developed its 5-year plan in accordance with the DfE’s guidance and deficit 
management template.

7.8 The Forum noted that there were two key priority areas that the Joint Additional Needs 
and High Needs Transformation Programme was focussed on in the new year: testing 
and implementation of the new SEND banded funding model; and implementation of 
additional specialist places across the county.  The local authority was also looking at 
potential ways of offering non-statutory funding to address short-term need, to avoid 
locking into long-term expensive statutory plans.  

7.9 The Forum received the finalised descriptors and example provision maps.  Members 
were informed that throughout the spring term, the local authority would be working 
with a number of individual schools to test the descriptors and develop provision maps 
for existing pupils/students with EHCPs.  Assuming that testing and implementation 
worked well, the local authority was aiming for a wider roll out of the new system from 
September 2022. 

Page 7



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

8 

7.10 The Head of Education Strategy and Development explained that the rising levels of 
need were placing significant pressure on the availability of specialist places. The local 
authority was looking at how the number of specialist places could be significantly 
increased in the coming years.  Current data indicated that, should the trends continue 
as they were, at least an extra 100 places a year would need to be commissioned.  
The Forum noted the local authority’s plans to address the increasing levels of need 
as outlined in the report.  The Forum was informed that officers would be working 
closely with the GASSH to move this forward. The expansion of specialist provision 
was supported by government policy and the recent announcement to invest £2.6b 
into specialist capital funding.  

7.11 The Forum was looking to gain a greater understanding of whether there was scope 
for more of Gloucestershire’s High Needs pupils to have their needs met by 
Gloucestershire’s maintained specialist provision, rather than independent specialist 
provision both within and outside of the county, which was much more expensive.  It 
was subsequently agreed that at the next meeting, the Forum would receive a detailed 
breakdown of the relevant data, including an update on the import/export data on the 
number of Gloucestershire High Needs pupils that other areas take, in comparison to 
the number of High Needs pupils Gloucestershire takes in from another area.  The 
Head of Education Strategy and Development explained that the number of 
Gloucestershire’s High Need pupils in independent specialist provision was not out of 
balance with other local authorities.  However, without increasing specialist provision 
in the county over the coming years, there was potential for this to become a 
significant issue.

8. SCHOOLS FORUM WORKPLAN 2022 

8.1 The Forum received the Workplan for 2022.

8.2 It was noted that the key priorities for the Schools Forum in 2022 were: mainstream 
funding; Early Years funding; High Needs funding; and a reassessment of the role and 
impact of the Forum in light of its statutory responsibilities, current priorities in school 
funding and developments in government guidance.  

8.3 The High Needs Budget Working Group which had been established to support the 
design and implementation of a new approach to funding SEND, would be meeting 
throughout 2022.  The next meeting of the Group was on 7 February 2022. 

8.4 The Forum noted the Workplan for 2022.  

9. F40 AND COVID-19 UPDATE 

9.1 The Head of Education Strategy and Development updated the Forum on the work of 
the F40 Group.  He reported that the key priority areas for the F40 Group were: fair 
funding for all; sufficiency of school funding; SEND funding and the publication of the 
SEND review; sufficiency of Early Years funding; and accessibility of capital funding.  

Page 8



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

9 

There were a number of upcoming briefing sessions involving the F40 Group, the DfE 
funding policy team and ministers to talk through those core issues.  

9.2 He emphasised the significance of the F40 group in influencing high level decision 
making; he agreed to keep the Forum up to date on developments and ensure that the 
views of Gloucestershire Schools Forum were represented at the meetings of the F40.

9.3 The Head of Education and Strategy agreed to circulate the F40’s latest campaign 
document once it became available.
ACTION: Head of Education Strategy and Development.  

10. DATE OF NEXT MEETING 

The Forum noted the date of the next meeting – 2:00 pm on Wednesday 30 March 
2022.

Chair

Meeting concluded at 3.36 pm

Page 9



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 10



 
Schools Forum Meeting on 13 January 2022 

 
Action Sheet 

 
TOPIC 
 
 

 
ACTION 

 
RESPONSIBILITY 

 
OUTCOME 
 

Home to School 
Transport  

With reference to the quote outlined in the High Needs 
report for a 6-mile journey costing £365 a day (£71,000 
per academic year), it was questioned whether a 
specifically named special school place (with the 
exception of local provision), could be declined on the 
grounds that the associated transport costs did not 
represent the best use of public funds, as it would impact 
on the provision of the efficient education of others.   
Officers to check the statutory guidance and report back 
to the Forum.  
 

Head of Education 
Strategy and 
Development 

Transport costs are included when calculating the cost 
of placement. Tribunal would look at the overall cost of 
placement including transport. When comparing two 
education providers you would have to establish both 
were suitable before comparing cost and considering 
efficient use of resources. 
 

High Needs 7.11 For the Forum to gain a greater understanding of 
whether there is scope for more of Gloucestershire’s 
High Needs pupils to have their needs met by 
Gloucestershire’s maintained specialist provision, rather 
than independent specialist provision both within and 
outside of the county, the Forum to receive a detailed 
breakdown of the relevant data.  

 
 The Forum to be provided with an update on the 

import/export data on the number of Gloucestershire 
High Needs pupils that other areas take, in comparison 
to the number of High Needs pupils Gloucestershire 
takes in from another area. 

 

Head  Head of Education 
Strategy and 
Development  

 
 
 
 
 

 

Placements analysis 2021-22 attached. 

F40 The f40’s latest campaign document to be circulated to 
the Forum. 

Hh Head of Education 
Strategy and 
Development 

Completed.  F40 campaign priorities 2022 document 
circulated 31.01.22. 

 

P
age 11



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Out of County Budget – Analysis of Placements (2021/22)  

GCC currently has 294 pupils placed in Independent Provision at a cost of £11.58m (overall spend in 

FY 2021/22 is £12.97m). The following analysis tables give a good indication as to why and where the 

spend is so high. 

            

Note: The reason for the cost of 38 wk Residential being so low, is that the parents are funding the 

residential element, GCC fund the education. 

 

Analysis of Pupils by Key Stage and Gender 

     

 

 

    

 

 

Page 13



Placement by Category of Need 

SEMH is by far the biggest cohort placed in Independent Schools due to the lack of sufficient 

maintained provision.   

 

 

Reason for Placement 

The below information has been taken from the consultation documents where a reason is given 

why a pupil cannot be placed.  

  

 

  

  

 

Page 14



Joint Funded Placements 

There is an element of Funding from the Out of County Budget which goes towards the education of 

Joint Funded Placements. These cases are led by Social Care and are approved at CYPMARP. Funding 

is determined by how much the educational element of the Placement package is and this is then 

expressed as a percentage of the overall cost. We currently have 51 YP placed in Residential units 

where education is being funded. 

 

  

 

 

 

 

Page 15



This page is intentionally left blank



Early Years Report 
 

Schools’ Forum 
Date 

30 March 2022 

Type of Decision Notification and decision required 

Background 
Documents 

 

Authors Philip Haslett, Head of Education Strategy and Development 

Sarah Hylton, Head of Early Years  

Suzanne Hall, Finance Business Partner 

Purpose of Report 
To make recommendations in relation to: 

 The use of the carried forward Early Years balances 

 The use of the Early Years block for 22/23 as set out in the 

report 

To advise Forum members of the EY forum decision regarding the 

distribution of the increased nursery funding rates   

Key 
Recommendations 

Forum members are asked to approve the recommendations that: 

 

1. The total uncommitted Early Years carry forward balance of 

£1.479 million, £1.4 million is used as follows: 

 Retain £250k (17.8%) of the underspend to support Early 
Education & childcare sufficiency (capital and revenue) 

 Retain £200k (14.3%) to commission a 12-month pilot EY 
Specialist Assessment provision for early years’ children 
with special educational needs.  

 Allocate £950k (67.9%) to providers based on the full 
academic year hours 2020/21 
 

2. The EY Forum decision on the distribution in the formula of 

the additional allocated increase of 17p per hour for 3- and 4-

year-olds is agreed. 

 
3. The use of the Early Years DSG block as set out in Section 6 

below, including a commitment for the DSG funding of 

£1,048,758 be made available for the period of the Children & 

Family C contracts to support the development of Family 

Hubs across Gloucestershire. 

Resource 
Implications 

It was agreed at the 17 June 2021 School Forum that the early 
year’s balances from 2020/21 would be ring-fenced for early years 
and not used to offset the wider DSG deficit. 

In November 2021 the DFE announced an increase of 21p per hour 
for two year olds and 17p per hour for three and four year olds for 
2022/23. 

The provisional settlement for 2022/23 was announced on 16th 
December 2021. The provisional total of £34.897 million included 

Page 17

Agenda Item 5



 

1. Introduction 

1.1. The Dedicated Schools Grant (DSG) Early Years block funding is calculated using 

the numbers from the claims submitted in the January census multiplied by a 

nationally set rate hourly rate which for 2022/23 in Gloucestershire is £4.61 for 

three- and four-year-olds and £5.65 for two-year-olds.   

1.2. Funding is not utilised equally across the academic year.  The number of hours for 

three- and four-year-olds are lower in the Autumn term and increase to be at their 

highest in the summer term. With the Autumn term also being 14 weeks rather 

than 12 for the other two terms, this can lead to surplus funding being available 

when the lagged effect is adjusted for in the June/July of the following year.  

1.3. Due to the pandemic, the basis for the collection of the census data was adjusted 

resulting in a late notification of the final 2020/21 funding allocation. The 2021/22 

funding levels are based on the censuses in May 2021, October 2021 and January 

2022 and revised allocations will be notified in July 2022 for the financial year 

2021/22. 

1.4. This paper sets out the Early Years context in Gloucestershire, the proposed use 

of the Early Years DSG block for 2022/23 including the retained amount and 

provides options for how best to use the surplus generated by the funding 

conditions detailed above.  

2. Current position and challenges of Early Years provision in Gloucestershire 

2.1. It is difficult to overstate the importance to children of having the best possible 

start in life.  Getting off to a good start is hugely important to their subsequent 

outcomes as they progress through childhood to adolescence and adulthood.  

Being able to access good quality, local early years provision is critical, particularly 

for those children from disadvantaged backgrounds.  It reduces the gap in 

development for children enabling them to thrive as the start of the primary 

education. 

 

2.2. Good progress has been made by the Early Years Service over recent years to 

ensure provision is both accessible and of high quality. Our EYFS data reflects 

that the % of pupils attaining a good level of development is now in line with the 

national average. However, more work is needed to improve outcomes for specific 

cohorts of children, particularly those eligible for free school meals and children of 

black Caribbean heritage. 

 

2.3. The fragility of the Early Years infrastructure has been further impacted by the 

national pandemic and continues to present  challenges in relation to the 

sufficiency of places and quality of early education and childcare both locally and 

nationally.  

 

funding for the new rates and was based on January 2021 census.  

Page 18



2.4. Rising costs and the low hourly childcare rate have led to nurseries struggling to 

recruit and retain qualified staff, and to ensure long term sustainability.  As a result 

of this, and general financial challenges for small childcare businesses, we have 

started to see an increase in the number of settings closing or reporting that they 

are at risk of closure.  In response to the growing concerns of the financial impact 

of imposed restrictions we conducted a risk analysis of EY settings in the county in 

2021 and subsequently allocated one off investment to 34 settings to ensure that 

countywide sufficiency was maintained. All 34 settings remain in operation and 

have been supported to develop and implement robust business plans to remain 

financial sustainable. 

2.5. Gloucestershire’s Childcare Sufficiency and Assessment (2019) which was 

approved by Cabinet in June 2021 concluded that there was sufficient provision to 

meet the needs of children requiring childcare, with the greater majority of 

provision of good or outstanding quality. However, an interim sufficiency 

assessment completed in January 2022 highlighted emerging sufficiency concerns 

in the Stroud and Dursley areas of the county and also highlighted the continued 

risks to provider sustainability due to a combination of cost and funding pressures. 

2.6. Whilst the hourly rate is set by Government, local providers do challenge the LA in 

respect of the low funding levels they receive and the impact that this has on both 

quality and sustainability of provision. 

 

3. Current Financial Position  

3.1. At the end of 2020/21 the carry forward of Early Years DSG in Gloucestershire 

was £989k caused by payments for three- and four-year-olds being much lower 

than budget and the slippage on project plans due to the pandemic. This includes 

the delivery of parent and baby/toddler groups and the delivery of training for EY 

childcare and community providers postponed due to covid restrictions. The final 

adjustments for 2020/21 were notified in November and included the lagged effect 

of the May census on the spring term, giving a final uncommitted early years 

balance of £1.479 million.  

 

3.2. Current estimates of hours and costs for 2021/22 based on the summer and 

autumn terms are forecast to be £1.9 million underspent for three- and four-year-

olds with two-year-old payments estimated to underspend by £170k.These 

estimates will be adjusted for the January 2022 census. 

 

4. Funding Options In-Year 

4.1. The early years block for 2022/23 was announced by the DfE in December 2021 

and totals £34.897 million. The allocated hourly rate for 2022/23 is an increase of 

21p per hour for two-year-olds to £5.65 per hour and 17p per hour for three- and 

four-year-olds to £4.61 per hour. In January 2022 Schools Forum approved the 

proposal that the increases are added to the hourly rate passed to providers for 

both 2-year-olds and 3- and 4-year-olds. It was agreed that there would be a 

Page 19



consultation with Early Years providers on a number of options in respect of the 

early years’ formula including deprivation payments for 3 and 4 year olds. 

4.2. The options set out below were presented to Early Years Forum and a decision 

was made by forum, on behalf of the EY sector, to implement Option 1.  

4.3. The rate includes the additional £0.17 announced by the DFE in November 2021 

 Current Option 1 Option 2 Option 3 

 £ £ £ £ 

Base rate 4.07 4.24 4.23 4.22 

Deprivation 0.17 0.17 0.18 0.19 

TOTAL 4.24 4.41 4.41 4.41 

 

4.4. These options include the full 17p in the rate passed to providers but vary the rate 

between the base rate and the amount paid out through deprivation payments 

Option 1 passes the whole 17p per hour increase to ALL providers. 

4.5. Options 2 and 3 pass a marginally lower hourly rate increase to all providers but 

include an increase in the deprivation rate, therefore will be more beneficial to 

those settings in areas of deprivation.  

Recommendation: Option 1 -  The EY Forum selected Option 1 for the distribution 

of the additional allocated increase of 17p per hour for 3- and 4-year-olds is 

agreed.  This has now been communicated to the EY sector and will be applied 

from April 2022. 

 

4.6. Gloucestershire currently has Early Years DSG carry forward balances available 

of       £1.479 million.  There are a number of options set out below which could be 

applied.    

1. Allocate funding to providers based on academic year hours – Autumn 20 
to Summer 21, OR 

2. Allocate funding to providers based on just the summer term hours – 
Summer 21, OR 

3. Using either of the above options but adjusting for deprivation. 
4. Allocate funding to support early years & childcare sufficiency 
5. Retain the underspend to off-set overspend on Dedicated Schools Grant 

 

Recommendation: Use of the carry forward balances as follows: 

 Retain £250k (17.8%) of the underspend to support Early Education & 
childcare sufficiency (capital and revenue) 

 Retain £200K (14.3%) to commission a 12-month pilot EY Specialist 
Assessment provision for early year’s children with special educational 
needs.  

 Allocate £950k (67.9%) to providers based on the full academic year 
hours in 2020/21. 

 
5. Rationale 

Page 20



5.1. It provides a positive injection of funding (£950k) based on providers last years’ 

claims, which will be well received and have a significant impact on the challenges 

that providers face to deliver a quality provision for children in the county.  

 

5.2. Investment to support Early Years & Childcare sufficiency will enable the LA to 

maintain its duty to have a sufficient provision of good quality childcare available 

across the county. 

5.3. The possibility of transferring the underspend from the Early Years block to offset 

overspends in other parts of the dedicated schools grant was considered.  

However, given that Early Years funding is low in Gloucestershire creating viability 

and sufficiency issues for parts of the sector, it was felt that utilising Early Years 

funding to support overspends would not be appropriate or equitable.    

 

6. Use of the provisional Early Years Block 2022/23 

6.1. The proposed use of the provisional Early Years block in 2022/23 is set out in the 

table below and complies with the Early Years regulations limit on the cost of 

central services of no more than 5% for three- and four-year-olds. It is 

recommended that the Forum agree to the budget for central costs being allocated 

at the level (circa £1.64 million) set out in the table. This will continue to fund an 

element of children and family centres*, Early Years quality team and supporting 

overheads. 

Early Years Block       

  Entitlements Central Costs Total 

  £ £ £ 

Pupil premium, SEN Inclusion, Disability Access 
Fund 

510,747 
 

510,747 

3 & 4 year old placements 29,877,325 
 

29,877,325 

2 year old placements 2,868,806 
 

2,868,806 

*Children's Centres 
 

1,048,758 1,048,758 

Early Years Quality Team 
 

279,931 279,931 

Support Services & Overheads 
 

311,135 311,135 

  33,256,878 1,639,824 34,896,702 

 

6.2. *The Commissioning of Children and Family Centres is the first step in an    

incremental/transitional approach to an integrated Family Hub model.  The total 

budget figure for the current children and family centres contracts is £3,931,877 

per annum. This is funded through the Dedicated Schools Grant (EY block) 

£1,048,755 and £2,883,122 Public Health grant.   

6.3. The proposal is for a long-term commitment of this funding for the duration of the 

proposed contracts of 9 years, 7 years plus the option to extend for up to 2 years. 

The total value over whole 9-year contract is £35,386,893. 

Page 21



6.4. In order to progress the proposal Schools Forum, need to consider a commitment 

for the DGS funding of £1,048,758 be made available for the period of the 

contracts to contribute to the development of Family Hubs across Gloucestershire 

6.5. This proposal was presented to the Early Years Forum in January 2022. EY forum 

are in support of the intention to enhance the existing universal offer within 

community provision; with a focus for on supporting children aged 0-5 yrs. and 

their families to help children to develop the fundamental skills for learning to 

support successful transitions to school. 

6.6. However, forum members expressed concern about the length of the proposed 

contract and subsequently the commitment of DSG funding for a period of up to 9 

years. 

6.7. They also requested that the EY sector be represented and included in the 

development of the specification for the Children & Family Centres, with particular 

regard to the ensuring that services commissioned align to the common needs 

presented in EY settings, gaps in available support to improve outcomes and to 

reduce inequalities and to influence and participate in the monitoring of impact and 

outcomes achieved.  

 Recommendation: The use of the Early Years DSG block as set out in Section 6 

below, including a commitment for the DSG funding of £1,048,758 be made 

available for the period of the Children & Family Centre contracts to support the 

development of Family Hubs across Gloucestershire 

Page 22



 

Gloucestershire County Council  

Early Years and Schools Forum Report  

Proposals for Children and Family Centres / Families Hubs 

January 2022 

 

1. Background 

1.1. In June 2016, Cabinet approved a new model of working for Children and Family 

Centres (C&FC) to support children pre-birth to 11 years and their families. This 

moved away from providing universal support to targeting those who have a 

level of need that would require intervention.  

 

1.2.  This targeted family support service is based in 16 Children and Family Centre 

buildings in the areas of greatest deprivation in Gloucestershire. These Children 

and Family Centres are being managed by three organisations, two 

commissioned externally and one commissioned in house.  

 

1.3. The other 27 Children’s Centre’s have been de-designated as formal Children’s 

Centres and have been developed as hubs for early education and childcare, 

universal services delivered by private, voluntary and community groups and as 

bases for professionals who work with families.  

 

2. Recommissioning of the Children and Family Centres and Family Hubs  

 

2.1. The contracts for the 16 C&FC approved by Cabinet in June 2016 for three 

years from 1st April 2017 to 31st March 2020 with an option to extend for two 

years and the extension of the contracts until March 2022 was approved by 

Cabinet, 24th July 2019. 

 

2.2. Cabinet approval was given in July 2021 to vary the current contracts to extend 

the end date of the targeted services (in the 16 CCs) until 31st March 2023. To 

allow us to reshape and consult in order to consider an offer around developing 

an integrated service to children and families in Gloucestershire. 

 

2.3. Recently the Family Hub model has emerged nationally as an effective 

integrated model which is being encouraged by various policy initiatives as 

facilitators to support a range of policy areas. In particular, the agenda is driven 

by a Children’s Commissioner Paper; Best Start for Life:  A vision for the 1001 

critical days (March 2021). 

 

Page 23



 

2.4. This prompted the Integrated Children and Families Commissioning Hub, to 

explore the future of Children and Family Centre’s as part of a potential key 

ingredient to support the creation of Family Hubs, whereby they are reimagined 

as community bases for families with children aged 0-19 (25 with SEND).  

 

3. Introduction to Family Hubs 

 

3.1. Family Hubs is a support model for families with children and young people aged 

0-19 (25 where children have a special educational need or disability).  It is a 

way to think about how to better support families across the spectrum of Early 

Help (prevention, early intervention, additional needs) and more coherently 

enable families to access specialist services where needed.   

3.2. Family hubs was a concept developed by the Centre for Social Justice (2014) 
which was explored  by the All-Party Parliamentary Group (2016) who strongly 
concluded that redevelopment of Children’s Centres towards a Family Hub 
model would make a real difference for families.  Since then many local areas 
have looked to family hubs as a way of revisioning their Centres for example 
Essex, Shropshire and Isle of White. 

3.3. The national policy agenda continues to move in this direction, (including with 
the recent budget announcement of funding for a number of Family Hubs). The 
Best Start in Life; modernistation of the Heatlhy Child Programme, Maternity 
Hubs, the Andera Leadson review Strengthing Families all are aligned with the 
values and principles of Family Hubs.   

These key principles include: 

 Integration  

 Shared outcomes  

 Working with the voluntary sector, embedded in community 

 Focus on early intervention and prevention 

 Whole family approach 

 Accessibility 

3.4. A Family Hub is not a prescribed range of services – it is an approach that seeks 
to offer families a more coherent and effective support offer across the services 
they need e.g. health services (antenatal, maternity, health visitor, school 
nurses); early years childcare & education, youth services, parenting support, 
safety, relationship support; employment, finance and other support that reflects 
local circumstances. 

3.5. Family hubs can be located in existing physical spaces, upgraded spaces and/or 
blended with a digital offer.  

3.6. Integrated leadership is also key to success through considering local needs, 
involving the right stakeholders (statutory and voluntary and community sector) 
and support systems, processes and culture change to achieve outcomes and 
measure impact/outcomes.  

 

Page 24



 

 

4. Stakeholder briefings and Consultations   

 

4.1. Initial briefings and consultation have taken place with a wide range of internal 

and external stakeholders and there was huge amount of support from 

participants to get it right for families.  With consistent support for family hub 

concept (0-19), open at weekends/evenings, embedded in community and 

providing a better range and co-ordination of information and support for 

families.  Key areas of interest highlighted by Stakeholders were: 

 

 Potential in a blended offer - digital & face to face – to meet some of the 
issues posed by rurality and geographical scope [potential to build on what 
worked over last year, but not to rely on technology in rural areas as not good 
for all types of support].   

 Post Covid statutory offer unclear as yet – opportunity to redefine as part of 
any new offer. 

 Each locality is unique and any model will clearly need to flex to local issues 
and priorities – common interest in hub and satellite model (hub being locality 
based with outreach offered in local villages). 

 Strong theme across all localities is a lack of universal and L2 support for 
families – current focus on L3 and above is perceived as ‘too little too late’  
Any new models need to acknowledge existing stigma around targeted 
services. 

 Large amount of social capital/community capacity (VCFS) that could be 
harnessed as part of a more cohesive offer for families [organisations and 
stakeholders such as grandparents] 

 A need for much better communication and co-ordination across (and within) 
public services and the VCFS to work towards a more cohesive offer for 
families - strategically and locally [potential around family navigators/social 
prescribing] 

 More use of data locally to drive improvement and more consistent systems in 
general 

 Consistent support gaps across localities: pre- birth; /school readiness /EYFS 
attainment (FSM and ethnicity gaps higher than the national ; 11-19 (general 
activities, youth support & mental health); children with special needs (general 
lack of support & system bureaucratic); support for parents – particularly 
domestic violence & mental health (thresholds too high to pick up early 
enough).  

 Consistent strength: early years support (2-5yrs) and childcare provision 

 Workforce need to be able to work with whole family, including children with 
SEN and disabilities without losing specialisms; will need development & 
professionals need access to appropriate supervision and support (including 
education & VCFS workforce)  

 Needs to be longer term commitment to any new model 

Page 25



 

 
In summary, by March 2024 our suggested model will comprise of; 

 16 Family Hubs, with a growing range of spokes including the 27 de-
designated centres, with the potential to increase these spokes using other 
community assets, which are recognised as a single point of access, 
welcoming and for all families in the local community.  

 A digital information and signposting offer will further support accessibility. 

 Integrated leadership team driving forward integrated, co-located services 
and shared outcomes, at a minimum comprising the pre-birth-2 and Best Start 
for Life offers (in line with public health and primary health commissioning 
teams).  

 Shared data system to facilitate an effective early help system 
(communication and evaluation).  

 Embedded co-production structures and opportunities which build genuine 
capacity to ensure support is driven by and responsive to diverse local needs  

 Co-location with community and voluntary sector support in line with local 
capacity and need  

 A workforce with expectations to build relationships and support whole 
families, using strength-based approaches – where families are engaged from 
birth and get help at the earliest point. 

 
5. Offer 

 
5.1. Universal Offer 
Our Universal Offer will be joined up and flexible to local need, to enable families to 
access support when they first need it. Our ambition is for Family Hubs to become 
the delivery model for Continuity of Carer, Babies in Lockdown, and Start for Life. In 
this way, Family Hubs will become a normal part of the family landscape and integral 
to the local communities they serve. They will engage families at the very start of 
their parenting journey (pre-birth), building relationships that will facilitate access to 
the right information and type/level of support – particularly in the critical early years.  

 
6. We will integrate the six elements of a Universal Offer by providing:  
 

6.1. Seamless support for families  
Local maternity services will support delivery of the new Continuity of Carer (CoC) 
and our Baby Hubs model (Babies in Lockdown), so that midwives become central 
to Family Hubs. They will be a key part of the co-located integrated teams, which will 
drive the integration of health and public health priorities, early help and community 
assets, focused on meeting joint priorities and shared outcomes. Midwives will have 
smaller caseloads enabling them to build up trusting relationships. This means that 
they will be able to provide personalised care from conception. This will help with 
early identification of mental health, parenting or safeguarding issues or families 
likely to require elements of a universal plus offer, so that these can be flagged 
appropriately and in a timely way. The integrated information and data system will 

Page 26



 

also facilitate the seamless service we aspire to. The health visiting caseloads are 
aligned to the current boundaries of the Children and Families Centres. These 
boundaries will be reviewed as part of the development of Family Hub and spoke 
model to ensure that the boundaries are also coterminous with that of the CoC 
teams. Aligning boundaries also means that professionals working together in these 
smaller geographical areas will get to know each other, enabling effective 
communication and greater integration of the workforce. 

 
6.2. As part of Gloucestehsire’s sufficiciency strategy  
We are building a new 6 bed residendential parent and child assessment centre in 
county. This provision will be part of our family hub model as a new children centre 
will be integral to this developmet, offering some of our most vulanable parents the 
community connections that a children’s centre offers. Gloucestershire is a large 
rural county. Some localities having poor transport links. A strong message from the 
pre-engagement work indicated a need for a mix of face to face and virtual support 
to maximise engagement with and take up of the universal services provided. 
Consideration will be given to the sufficiency of existing childcare provision in the 
area so that the development of a children’s centre provision does not impact on the 
business sustainability of local providers. 

 
6.3. We aim to integrate Birth Registration services into our family hub model  
This will help to breakdown the stigma of current children and family centres being 
for families with problems, alongside rebranding of children and family centres as 
family hubs (anticipated April 2023 subject to Cabinet approval). Furthermore our 
family hub with spokes will be in trusted community spaces which will feel accessible 
and welcoming for all families. Volunteers and staff will be trained in trauma 
informed practice to create a safe experience. Pre-engagement work has identified 
food/Café as key in creating a welcoming space and encouraging people to chat 
informally to share parenting experiences and form peer networks. Our aim is to co-
produce an evolving family hubs model with parents and community organisations to 
continually understand what makes family hubs accessible and welcoming.   

 
6.4. The Information families need when they need it  
Family hubs and community spokes will be physical information hubs. Our digital 
offer will build from this, ensuring that families have 24/7 access to quality 
information to support informed decisions. We will promote existing Apps to 
maximise social media platforms and develop new ways to provide information that 
is accessible to all. Our information strategy will be a key focus of our co-production 
work, taking account of digital poverty. 

 
6.5. Workforce development  
We will develop the workforce through multi-agency training opportunities to 
strengthen links across the different professional groups. A training needs analysis 
will be undertaken which will inform the workforce development programme for staff 
and volunteers. We anticipate training needs will include early child development  

Page 27



 

trauma informed practice and building resilience , supporting children with SEN and 
disabilities, EYFS curriculum delivery  to support the universal offer 

 
 

7. EY Identified gaps for consideration within the Family Hubs specification 

 

7.1. Early help for children and families – pre-birth to 3yrs  

 Targeted PEEP groups/parent programmes for children referred by other 

agencies.   

 Targeted parent engagement/support – for families identified through PEEP 

groups , community  parent and baby/toddler and/or as part of the graduated 

pathway as an early intervention.  To include parenting programmes and short 

term , outcome focussed support in the home , to support the “home as a 

learning environment” and  modelling and support for parents to implement 

strategies etc.   

 Perinatal support – to prepare for parenting and post natal support  

 Promoting take up of 2-year-old funded EY education entitlement and Health 

visitor ASQ developmental reviews  

 Provision of Easter/summer activities /support for young children and families – 

to ensure access to support for vulnerable children and families not known to 

other agencies/early help families , especially children who will start school in the 

Autumn to support transition/school readiness  

 

7.2. A paper was presented to SLT (Sept 2021) to gauge internal leadership interest 

in family hubs as an approach for Gloucestershire. It was agreed that there was 

sufficient interest to explore options as to how the commissioning of Children 

and Family Centres could be conducted in this context.  

 

7.3. The option currently being developed is an incremental model of change to 

establish a Family Hub offer for Gloucestershire which will start with the redesign 

of Children Centres.    

Area in scope  Activity   Timeframe  

Children Centres   Recommission the CC offer, 
moving back to a more universal/ 
prevention service, creating a core 
Family Hub within each district 
with wider bespoke services/ 
building.   

Complete by April 2023  

Public Health 
Nursing  

Recommissioning of Health 
visiting services will be aligned   to  
the new  Family hub model 

2023/4  

Page 28



 

creating a  more integrated place 
based offer  

Youth Services  Recommissioning of Youth 
provision will mirror  the Place 
based approach to CC  to create  
a joined up offer for families  

2022/3   

Health   Wider health  service  will be  
brought into the  Family Hub offer  

 Midwifery   

 Autism pathway  

 Obesity pathway  

 Early Bird parenting etc.  

 Emotional well being -  
perinatal mental health  

2022/3  

Short Breaks offer   Inclusion of children and families 
with additional needs.   
Short breaks offer/ information will 
be part of the wider Family Hub 
offer  

2022/3  

Early Help  Map out links/ pathways and 
services like parenting 
programmes etc.  to  be  part of 
the wider  Family Hub offer  

2022/3  

Early Years  Mapping exercise to  consider the  
wider  Early Years offer and 
school readiness  

2022/3  

Other  Areas  to 
consider   

Adult Education  
Housing  
DWP  - Benefit advice  
Trauma informed / ACEs  

 

8. Governance - a sub group has been developed which will be reporting into the      

Child Friendly Gloucestershire coalition.    

 

9. Next Steps 

 Strategic vision and principles to be developed (CFC lead/timescale TBC) 

 Overarching family hub model to be developed (CFC lead/timescale TBC) 

 Informal provider engagement (November 2021) – explore potential and capacity 

for new ways of working /opportunities for involvement in design (GCC EH 

commissioning team lead) 

 Role of Children and Family Centres within family hub model defined (including 

objectives within the broader outcomes frameworks) and implications for 

commissioning (in/out of scope) (Jan 2022) (CGG Integrated Children and 

Page 29



 

Families Commissioning Hub (level of partnership working with CFC dependent 

on option selected) 

 The specification will be co-produced with the Early Years team to ensure 

outcome and impact measures are in line with the gaps in current provision to be 

funded from the DGS pot of funding to be agreed at EY/Schools Forum 

 Cabinet paper: agree commissioning of children’s centres within wider family 

hubs context (February Cabinet) (GCC Integrated Children and Families 

Commissioning Hub) 

 Stakeholder Engagement (providers, families) (Feb 2022 – June 2022) (GCC 

Integrated Children and Families Commissioning Hub) 

 Developing the service specification (Feb 2022 onwards) following cabinet 

approval of the paper 

 

10.  Funding 

The current investment from Designated School Grant is £1,048,758. This currently 

provides funding towards the targeted family support service as a contribution to the 

support this service provides for children and their families under 5. 

This level of service transformation requires a longer-term commitment. An 

incremental approach of 3 years will be needed to ensure alignment of the key 

services needed to support children and their families 0-19/25 for the full 

development of Family Hubs therefore we are seeking a contract of 7 years with a 

further option to extend for up to a 2 year period. 

The 7 year contract will allow the first 3 years to develop the Family Hubs model and 

the latter 4 years to embed this model with an option to extend if needed beyond the 

7 years for up to a further 2 years. 

 

11. Action needed 

To seek from Early Years Forum a commitment for the DGS funding of 

£1,048,758 be made available for the period of the contracts to contribute to 

the development of Family Hubs across Gloucestershire. 

Approval given 26th January from EY Forum 

Following approval from Early Years Forum of the DGS funding commitment for the 

lifetime of the Family Hubs contract as set out in this document a further agreement 

was reached with the forum to include 

 EY Sector representation being part of the stakeholder group 

 EY Forum to have an active voice in the development of the specification both 

as part of the reference group but also as an agenda item at future meetings 

of the forum 

Page 30



 

 Engagement in the monitoring of outcomes once the contracts have been 

awarded through EY Forum as an agenda item. 

This approach provides an opportunity to recommission Children and Family        
Centres within a longer-term vision for Family Hubs. It allows us the flexibility and time 
to work with partners to develop the “whole Family Hub” model, which is not possible 
within the timescales for commissioning Children and Family Centres.  An incremental 
approach will enable alignment with GCC transformation programmes and multi-agency 
working. This approach will also allow the development of an integrated leadership 
approach and will seek to lever in funding from wider agencies as part of the vision for 
Family Hubs as an integrated multi-agency model. This incremental approach to 
commissioning will be tested throughout the procurement process. A contract with a 
longer lifetime is in line with national practice which suggests longer term commitment 
to funding is needed to evidence outcomes, impact and efficiencies within Early Help. 
 

12. Action needed 

To seek from Schools Forum a commitment for the DGS funding of £1,048,758 

be made available for the period of the contracts to contribute to the 

development of Family Hubs across Gloucestershire. 

 

 

 

Page 31



This page is intentionally left blank



1 
 

Senior Leadership Team Report     

    

REPORT TITLE 

 

 

Early Years Specialist Assessment provision proposal 

DATE OF MEETING  3rd February 2022 

REPORT AUTHOR: Sarah Hylton 

REASON FOR BRINGING 

TO SLT 
 To advise SLT of the current position regarding early 

education/childcare for children with complex needs  

 To seek approval to pilot an EY specialist assessment 

provision  

RESOURCE/FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS: 

Approximately 150K for 12-month pilot  
 
DSG funding agreed in principle 
 

RECOMMENDATION FOR SLT DECISION: 

That we commission the provision of an Early Years Assessment centre for a 12-month 

period to support up to 50 children. 

 

TIMESCALE: 

Pilot to run from September 2022 – July 20023  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 33



2 
 

 

Early Years Targeted/Specialist Assessment and Support proposal 

 

Background 

In 2014, (when I took up the post of EY SEN Service Manager) each year approximately 50-60 

children, aged 2-5yrs without a statutory plan, were allocated a nursery placement in the county’s 

special schools.  At that time, decisions to allocate special school nursery placements were made 

by a panel chaired by an Education lead; the key criteria were that the child had a formal diagnosis 

or disability. Over the following 2 years we worked hard with the EY sector to promote and support 

inclusion, introducing non statutory inclusion funding and the provision of advice, guidance and 

support for EY settings to enable safe and positive experiences of inclusion in mainstream settings.  

By 2016 the number of children allocated a special school nursery placement (without a statutory 

plan) had reduced to approx. 10-15 per year.  All of these children remained in the special school 

once they reached statutory school age and remain there now. 

For the past 3 years, due to the increase in demand for special school places, commissioned places 

are available for children with an EHCP only.  This is reflected in the commissioning briefs for each 

school. EY children, without a statutory plan, are able to access a special school provision only if 

the school have space to accommodate the child, in addition to the commissioned places, and with 

additional funding.   

Due to the high demand for specialist places and the additional support and funding available to 

mainstream EY settings, almost all children have been able to access their EY education entitlement 

in a local setting.  However, for some children with complex needs this has not been a positive 

experience and has merely enabled the child to access a setting. As a consequence, developmental 

progress has been compounded by an environment that is not conducive to the child’s needs and/or 

by a lack of expertise and specialist knowledge of the setting staff.  This issue has been highlighted 

over the past 2 years when EY children in mainstream settings have had very limited access to 

specialist assessment and advice from the Advisory Teaching Service or Educational Psychology 

Service. 

 

Our ethos is that: 

 All children in Gloucestershire are able to access their EY entitlement in a high-quality setting 
that is suitable to meet their needs and is able to support every child’s development and to 
assess and plan for the next stage of their education 
 

 Most children aged 0-5 years in Gloucestershire have EY provision, support services and 
resources available to enable them to learn, develop, thrive and achieve good outcomes in 
their mainstream setting 
 

 Most children with additional needs/SEND are able to access their entitlement of EY funded 
provision in a mainstream setting. Early Years Inclusion Funding is available to support 
children with emerging SEN where additional resource is required.  Non statutory high needs 

Page 34



3 
 

funding is available for children with more complex needs that are likely to require a longer 
period of support. 
 

 High needs funding is available to support non statutory plans for children aged 0-4 years to 
avoid the need for a statutory plan (EHCP) altogether or to delay the need for a statutory plan 
(EHCP) until the child’s pre-school year. 
 

 Children in mainstream settings have access to a range of practitioners to undertake 
assessments and to support their learning needs within the setting and at home if necessary, 
and dependent on access to Advisory Teaching Service and Education Psychology Service. 
 

 Children receive the support, assessment and intervention that they need as early as possible 
and in the right environment to provide the best opportunity to address holistic needs and to 
plan for the next stage of their education/life.  Where there are concerns that a child is not 
making the expected developmental progress, a holistic approach is taken to identify the 
child’s and family’s strengths and difficulties.  This informs the development and 
implementation of a holistic plan of support to meet needs across all areas of the child’s life. 
 

 

Context and challenges 

 Over the past few years the number of EHCP requests for young children has increased 
steadily.  So, far in 2021 (11 months), 186 EHCPs have been issued for children aged 5 
and under, of which 36 have been allocated a place at a special school and 25 are awaiting 
placement.   In 2020 a total of 182 EHCPs were issued for children aged 5 and under.   
 

 Last year a number of children deferred school entry, and remained in EY provision, solely 
because special school was agreed and named on the EHCP but no places were available.  
These were a mixture of parental requests for special school and children for whom 
assessment identified a need. 
 

 Special School Head Teachers have consistently reported over the past few years that 
many of the young children allocated a place with them are likely to have not needed 
specialist provision had there been a specialist assessment and intervention at an earlier 
stage with a planned and supported transition back to mainstream EY/school provision. 
None of these children have moved back to mainstream school or had EHCP resource 
reduced over the following years.  
 

 The majority of special school places for EY children are allocated following a request from 
parents, who either have no confidence in mainstream settings or have been advised by the 
setting/school that mainstream is not suitable. 
 

 Some children have complex needs that mean they are unable to access their EY entitlement 
and/or a multi-agency assessment in a mainstream setting.   This may be due to significant 
behaviour challenges, sensory difficulties and/or high anxieties.      
 

 Some children are able to access a mainstream setting that meets their social needs, but 
require a multi-agency assessment in a targeted setting to understand their developmental/ 
learning needs.    
 

Page 35



4 
 

 Whilst good multi-agency planning has successfully enabled some children with complex 
health needs to safely access a mainstream provision, some children’s health needs have 
prevented them from accessing a mainstream setting due to the complexity of their condition 
and the lack of confidence/capacity within mainstream settings to support these needs.   

 

 

Proposed enhanced offer for EY children with SEND: 

 EY Service continue to provide a range of training and support to EY settings across the 
county to build confidence, skills and knowledge to enable them to meet the needs of children 
with SEND and to prepare them for their next stage of education. (see attached EY Service 
tiered offer and OAP guidance) 
 

 EY Service promotes a holistic approach to assessment and planning for the needs of young 
children and their families.  This includes considering parent/family support needs, and 
health/environmental/housing issues that impact on development and well-being  
 

 EY SEN Inclusion Funding is available to support children in mainstream settings when they 
have emerging needs.   This provides short term support for a period of approximately 8–16 
weeks where it is anticipated that early and holistic interventions will achieve desired 
outcomes and reduce/negate need for further additional support. 
 

 EY Service contributes to a multi-agency discussion for all children with complex needs, to 
agree and plan assessment and intervention and to consider both NSF and requests for 
EHCN assessment  
 

 Children aged 2-3 years with complex, long term needs are supported via non-statutory high 
needs funding for a period of up to one year to reduce/avoid requests for EHC assessments. 
This could be a pilot group to explore funding the Graduated Pathway before children 
become statutory school age with a view to reducing the need for statutory plans.   
 

(a)  Children with the most complex needs have access to longer term funding when they 

need it.   

 

(b) Children with the most complex needs make good progress in their EY setting in line 

with their abilities 

 

(c)  Reduction in the number of requests for EHC assessments for children aged 2-3 years’ 

old 

 

(d) Minimise the number of requests from parents for special school places for children in 

EY settings 

 

(e) Ensure special school placements are available for the children who need them most 

 

 A targeted provision is developed to provide multi agency assessment and intervention for 
children who cannot access this in a mainstream setting.   This will enable practitioners to 
understand the child’s needs, to consider how best to support and respond to these needs 
and to plan an enhanced transition to their next setting.    

Page 36



5 
 

 

Criteria for this provision: 

- Lack of clarity/understanding regarding needs and how to meet them 
- Disconnect between what is presented/reported at home and in setting 
- Child is unable to access EY entitlement despite interventions in place 
- Child’s progress is less than expected, despite multi-agency input and interventions  

 

Provision to be included: 

- Multi-agency assessment 
- Targeted provision placement to enable child to access EY entitlement (or additional 

hours if this will enable parent to access work/training?) 

- Training/mentoring/coaching for staff in receiving setting prior to transition 
- Enhanced transition to next setting 
- Telephone support for staff in receiving setting for at least one term after child 

transitions 
- Outreach support to mainstream settings 
- Submission of EHCN assessment if necessary 
 

At present, we are looking to pilot one assessment provision and, if this works, we will be 

asking for this provision to be included in the development of the family hubs and for the EY 

DSG contribution to the commissioned C&FC element to be used for assessment 

provisions in each locality.  

 

 Special school places are available for children whose complex, long term needs require a 
specialist early years/school setting, as determined by a range of assessments and 
interventions.  For most children this will be allocated as a school placement through an 
EHCP, or in exceptional circumstances, a non-statutory placement pending the issue of an 
EHCP.  

 

 

Intended Outcomes 

 Improved working relationships with parents to build confidence and to support transition 
from assessment provision to setting/school resulting in fewer parental requests for special 
school for children aged under 5 years 

 Improved outcomes and comprehensive, holistic support plans for children aged under 5 
years with complex needs.   

 Increased understanding of individual needs as a result of assessment provision to enable 
multi-agency assessment and HN funding being available at a non-statutory level. 

 Reduction in the number of parental requests for EHNCA and specialist placements for 
children aged under 5 years. 

 Overall reduction in the number of EHCPs, using non statutory funding to support transition 
to primary school 

 

 

Associated costs 

Page 37



6 
 

1. Children aged 2-3 years with complex, long term needs are supported via non-statutory 
high needs funding for a period of up to one year to reduce/avoid requests for EHC 
assessments 

 

Current budget of £130K per year.  This is usually spent entirely to support children with emerging 

and complex SEND/health needs.   Proposal is for additional £50K to support 2-3 yr. olds with 

complex needs via a non-statutory plan rather than moving straight to EHCNA.    

2. A targeted provision facility is developed to provide multi agency assessment and intervention 
for children who cannot access this in a mainstream setting.   This will enable practitioners to 
understand the child’s needs, to consider how best to support and respond to these needs 
and to plan an enhanced transition to their next setting.    
 

Propose that this is commissioned to an external agency/organisation.  The cost would be 

approximately £150K to provide places for up to 50 children in a 12-month period.  This is based 

on the Dingley’s Promise EY Assessment Provisions.  (Dingley’s promise run 3 similar 

assessment provisions in the south east of England and are currently in discussion with several 

LAs in the South West. They have also been commissioned by DfE to support LAs to develop 

action plans to improve the experience of Transitions from EY to Primary school) They would be 

happy to work with us to pilot a similar model in Gloucestershire, however given the potential cost 

of the provision this would need to be commissioned through the full procurement process.  

 

Sarah Hylton 

Head of Early Years 

December 2021 

 

Page 38



 

1. Introduction 

1.1. At the School’s Forum in November 2021, we alerted forum members to a consultation that 

had just been launched by the DfE to fully remove the grant. In the consultation the DfE was 

suggesting the Local Authorities (LA) could redress the lost funding using de-delegation 

powers.  Effectively top slicing the funding from maintained school budgets. 

1.2. On the 9th December 2021 a short LA briefing was held with key stakeholders, including 

maintained schools headteachers and chairs of the headteachers associations. The focus of 

the session was to explore the issues created by the DfE consultation and potential solutions 

to the proposed loss of funding. The minutes of the meeting can be found in Annex A.  

1.3. In early January the consultation response was published, confirming that the grant would be 

removed over the next 2 financial years. A 50% reduction in 2022/23 and full removal in 

2023/24. This results in a loss of £360,000 in 2022/23 and £720,000 in 2023/24. 

1.4. This paper sets outs proposals on how, in the short-term, we can address this loss of funding 

in the most effective and equitable way. It has been shared and discussed with the heads 

associations and representatives from maintained schools at a recent meeting, the notes of 

which are attached to this paper at Annex B.  

2. Options to support School Improvement from 2022/23 onwards  

2.1. The timing of the consultation and the subsequent response have not provided much 

opportunity to address the challenges it creates for maintained schools and the LA.  

Local Authority School Improvement Grant  

Schools’ Forum 
Date 

30th March 2022 

Type of Decision For discussion and agreement 

Background 
Documents 

Reforming how local authorities’ school improvement functions are 
funded: Government Consultation 

Reforming how local authorities’ school improvement functions are 
funded: Government Consultation Outcome 

 

Authors Philip Haslett, Head of Education Strategy and Development 

Purpose of Report To outline the options and a preferred solution to the funding pressures 

created by the removal of the School Improvement Monitoring & Brokering 

Grant (“the grant”)  

Key 
Recommendations 

Recommendation: That the Local Authority bridges the funding gap for 

2022/23 by reducing intervention funding and redundancy support for 

maintained schools. 

Resource 
Implications 

Reduction in School Improvement Grant Funding - £360,000 in 2022/23 
and £720,000 in 2023/24. 

Page 39

Agenda Item 6

https://consult.education.gov.uk/simb-grant-team/local-authority-school-improvement-funding-reform/supporting_documents/Reforming%20how%20local%20authorities%20school%20functions%20are%20funded.pdf
https://consult.education.gov.uk/simb-grant-team/local-authority-school-improvement-funding-reform/supporting_documents/Reforming%20how%20local%20authorities%20school%20functions%20are%20funded.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/1045633/Government_response_-_Reforming_how_LA_SI_functions_are_funded.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/1045633/Government_response_-_Reforming_how_LA_SI_functions_are_funded.pdf


Therefore, we have focussed on options that bridge the immediate funding issue for 2022/23, 

allowing time for the development of more a more sustainable solution for the long term.  

2.2. To address the immediate issue, we have explored two ways to fund school improvement 

services.  

2.3. The first, as suggested by the DfE in the consultation, is to use de-delegation from 

maintained schools to recoup the lost funding. The benefit of this approach is that it does 

have a degree of alignment with the way in which many Multi-Academy Trusts operate, 

pooling school improvement from all schools into a central fund and deploying support where 

it is most needed.   

2.4. However, it is far more restricted in the way it can be used.  De-delegation operates on a per-

pupil basis rather than a whole-school budget top-slice.  The regulations also state that it 

must be applied equally to all maintained schools. So, all maintained schools would pay the 

same per pupil amount.  

2.5. In the first year, to cover the funding gap of £360,000, we would need to set a de-delegation 

rate of around £9 per pupil. This would mean that a school with 1000 pupils would pay 

£9,000 for the same support that a school of 100 would pay £900 for. School improvement is 

a whole school activity and as such, a per-pupil funding is a difficult approach to apply 

equitably for all schools. 

2.6. The second option is to bridge the funding gap using a combination of de-delegated 

balances, the central services block, and a reduction in intervention funding that the Local 

Authority can offer to schools. This would breakdown as follows: 

 De-delegated balances are forecast to carry a surplus at the end of the financial year 

of £447,000.  Some of this funding (250k) is ringfenced to cover any deficits that may 

need to be written off due to academy sponsorships.  This leaves around £200k, of 

which we are proposing £100k is used to support the loss of the grant.  This leaves 

very little contingency in this budget. Subject to de-delegated budget performance in 

2022/23 this could limit our ability to support maintained school redundancies. 

 The central services block has seen a small increase this year and we have 

provisionally ringfenced £160k to support the loss of the grant in 2022/23. 

 Finally, we are proposing to temporarily reduce the school improvement intervention 

budgets that we use to fund activities/support for schools in intervention.  This will 

mean activities agreed through project groups will need to be funded through the 

school budget.    

2.7. We believe option 2 provides the most effective and equitable approach to bridge the funding 

gap for 2022/23. This will provide time for more sustainable long-term plans to be put in 

place for 2023/24 and beyond. 

Recommendation: That the Local Authority bridges the funding gap for 2022/23 by reducing 

intervention funding and redundancy support for maintained schools. 

2.8. Longer term we believe that a move towards a traded service offer would provide a more 

flexible and equitable model of support for maintained schools.  Exploratory discussions have 

already started, with a view to co-producing a sustainable model of support for maintained 

schools. 

Page 40



Notes of the School Improvement Grant meeting, held on Wednesday 9 December 2021.  The 
meeting was held remotely. 

Present: 
Schools Forum Members (maintained representatives):  
David Alexander (Secondary School Headteacher), Anne-Marie Delrosa (Secondary School Governor), 
Lisa Jones (Primary School Headteacher), Becky Martin (Special School Governor). 

Secondary School (Maintained) Headteachers: 
Kieron Smith (Headteacher of Archway School), Scott Albon (Headteacher of Barnwood Park School). 

Chairs of Gloucestershire Association of Special School Headteachers: 
Clare Steel (Headteacher of Alderman Knight School), Lyn Dance (CEO SAND Academies Trust). 

Chair of Gloucestershire Association of Primary Headteachers: 
Kerry Cunningham (Headteacher of Longlevens Infant School). 

Chairs of the Local Primary Partnerships: Kate Burke: Chair of WGSP (Headteacher of Yorkley Primary 
School), Karen Howard: Chair of GSP (Headteacher of Harewood Infant School), Jane Farren: Co-Chair of 
TDP (Headteacher of Norton C of E Primary School), John Jones: Chair of NCSP (Headteacher of Bourton- 
on-the-Water Primary Academy), Jon Millin: Chair of CLP (Headteacher of Shurdington C of E Primary 
School), Debbie Sleep: Chair of SAS (Headteacher of Stroud Valley Community School). 

GCC Officers: Philip Haslett, Head of Education Strategy and Development, Clare Dudman, Head of 
School Improvement, Jo Bolton, Democratic Services Adviser and Clerk to the Schools Forum. 

1. Clare Dudman, Head of School Improvement, gave an overview of the background and context of the
local authority’s (LA) school improvement duties and the government’s proposed changes to the school 
improvement monitoring and brokering grant.  She explained that the grant was allocated to LAs to enable 
the effective discharge of many of their school improvement duties, including monitoring the performance of 
maintained schools, brokering school improvement provision and intervening in under performing schools 
as appropriate.   The government, without any prior notice, had launched a consultation on ‘Reforming how 
local authority school improvement functions are funded’.  The consultation ran for only 20 working days, 
giving limited scope for LAs to respond.  Gloucestershire County Council’s response to the consultation had 
been circulated to Gloucestershire’s schools. 

2. She explained that under the current arrangements there was a distinction between core and
additional improvement activities.  The government was proposing to remove the grant and change the 
regulations to enable all LA school improvement activity, including that provided in connection with 
additional improvement activities, to be funded  in what it sees as a similar way to academies who ‘top 
slice’ from school budgets. The government sees that this is comparable with  de-delegation from schools’ 
budget shares, with the agreement of the local schools forum or the Secretary of State.  However, this 
would prove inequitable as there had been a range of growth and capacity funds delivered either centrally 
or through the Regional Schools Commissioners office on which academies could draw, which maintained 
schools could not.  

3. The rationale behind the proposal to remove the grant was that local authorities rarely needed to
utilise intervention powers, many historically poorer performing schools were now academies, and core 
improvement activities were part of a continuum of wider activity. Local Authorities had noted that the fact 
that the reason there was little need to use formal intervention powers was because of the effective 
targeting of the grant to avoid this becoming necessary. The Head of School Improvement noted that the 
Association of Directors of Children’s Services had provided comprehensive feedback on its concerns 
about the proposals. An outline of their concerns can be found here. 

4. It was reported that the government was considering the following two options:

 Option 1 - A reduction of 50% of the LAMB grant amount in 2022/23, resulting in a loss of income
£360k. Total removal of the grant in 2023/24, resulting in a loss of income totalling circa £720k.

 Option 2 – Total removal of the grant in 2022/23. A loss of income £720k.

The other potential outcome, although not likely, was that no changes would be made to the grant. 

Annex A

Page 41

https://adcs.org.uk/assets/documentation/ADCS_CR_LAMB_Grant_consultation.pdf#:~:text=Removal%20of%20the%20Local%20Authority%20School%20Improvement%20Monitoring,million%20children%20who%20are%20taught%20in%20those%20schools.


 
5. The Head of Education Strategy and Development emphasised that if the government was to 
progress either of those two options, then it would place the LA in a very challenging position with only a 
short amount of time to adapt before the new financial year.  There had been widespread disappointment of 
the government’s plan to remove the grant as well as asking schools to dedelegate funds for school 
improvement support when budgets were already stretched. There were concerns that there would be a 
significant disparity between the funding of LA maintained schools and academy schools if the grant was 
removed. The Association of Directors of Children’s Service’s (ADCS) had responded to the consultation, 
setting out the key areas of concern and the resulting negative impacts the removal of the grant would have 
on LA maintained schools.   The ADCS had also made it clear in its response that the pandemic had 
highlighted the significant central role the LA had in working with all schools (regardless of governance) to 
ensure that the system provided a great education for all children and young people.  
 
6. The Head of Education Strategy and Development commented that he hoped the DfE, having 
reviewed all of the feedback, would at the very least extend the timescale for the removal of 50% grant 
funding, to give LAs the chance to mitigate the impact of the loss of income.  

 

7. Modelling work was being undertaken to establish how school improvement activities could be funded 
via de-delegation.  Whilst all other de-delegation amounts were often on a per pupil basis, it was felt this 
would not be the best option in this instance.  If this route was taken, all schools would need to pay the 
same amount meaning a cost of £9 per pupil.  For  a large secondary school this would result in a 
significant impact on its budget in comparison to a primary school who have greater access to services.  If 
school improvement funding did need to be de-delegated on a per pupil basis, then it was likely that 
secondary schools would need to be excluded, unless the DfE adapt the de-delegation rules to allow for 
variation in the amount paid per pupil for secondary schools. Consequently, the modelling suggested that 
de-delegation on a per school basis would be a much fairer option. If the consultation concludes in favour 
of the proposed model,  to cover the loss of 50% of the grant all local authority maintained schools would 
need to de-delegate around £1865 in the next financial year.   

 

8. The Head of Education Strategy and Development reported that decisions on de-delegation to fund 
school improvement would be taken at a Schools Forum meeting by the Forum members representing 
maintained schools across the school sector (i.e. Special, Alternative Provision, Primary, and Secondary).  
Each part of the sector would vote separately.  The DfE was due to publish its findings on the consultation 
in January 2022, therefore it was likely that an extra, single focus meeting of the School Forum would need 
to take place in March 2022. 

 

9. The Head of School Improvement explained that the LA had commenced with the development of a 
school improvement traded service.  The development of the service was planned before the government’s 
consultation was launched, in order to increase the offer of school improvement activities to schools.  The 
prospect of the grant being removed had resulted in the work to get this rolled out being expedited.  The 
short timescale involved with the potential removal of the grant meant the LA was unfortunately not yet in a 
position to offer this service to schools to mitigate the impact.  It would take approximately 18 months - 2 
years before the service was fully established.  The LA was aiming to develop packages of support that 
schools could purchase independently or as part of a cluster or grouping.  It would be a mixed economy of 
central services and a wider range of support available including utilising skills from both inside and outside 
the county.  It was recognised that some schools had already bought in external school improvement 
partners, and as a result, not all schools would buy-in to the service initially.  However, officers anticipated 
that as the service became increasingly established more schools would buy-in to it.  It was noted that the 
traded service would be offered to both LA maintained schools and academies.  
 
10. In response to a question, it was confirmed that the traded services offer would run in parallel to the 
de-delegation funding.  There was scope for the de-delegation amount to be reduced after one year once 
the traded service became established. 

 

11. It was reported that currently all LA maintained schools had the offer of one visit, per year, from a 
School Improvement Adviser.  The government’s proposal to remove this grant, would mean a loss of 
service, leading to a lack of intelligence in schools, and less opportunity for LAs to act before performance 
deteriorated significantly and formal intervention became inevitable.  It would also impact on the LA 
carrying out its statutory function of having oversight of school improvement actively in the whole school 
community; this was a critical area of concern given the LAs significant accountabilities to parents, carers 

Page 42



and the children and young people (particularly the most vulnerable). Officers felt that it was essential that 
the LA’s School Improvement Team remained in place in order to continue carrying out those functions. 

 
12. A headteacher pointed out that if the de-delegation amount was calculated on a per school basis, 
then small primary schools with much smaller budgets in comparison to large primary schools, would be 
paying the same de-delegation amount, which was inequitable.   Questions were raised on whether a three 
tiered pricing system could be implemented for the de-delegation amounts - dependant on the size of a 
school (i.e. small, medium, large).   The Head of Education Strategy and Development confirmed that 
currently the regulations did not allow for any variation between the per pupil amounts.  However, if this 
changed following the outcome of the consultation, then the LA could undertake some modelling work on 
adjusting the per pupil rate to reflect the size of the school, with a view to potentially presenting this as an 
option for consideration by the Schools Forum. 
 
13. A headteacher posed the question of why schools that were doing well, should be required to pay for 
a service, when it seemed that the LA would only be focusing the services on schools that required 
intervention.  Some schools did not receive any LA school improvement services, or only a very limited 
service, and therefore it may prove difficult for all schools to support a de-delegation proposal.  Officers 
clarified that the grant did not just fund the core school improvement activities, it funded a range of other 
services such as Fair Access and consultation on school admission arrangements, which affected all 
schools. 
 
14. A headteacher stressed that it was essential that schools were provided with a choice in how the 
school improvement business model operated, rather than being required to pay a significant amount of per 
pupil de-delegated funding (particularly in the case of a secondary school).  The Head of School 
Improvement acknowledged that a step change was needed to move towards a genuine partnership 
between schools and the LA, operating via a Gloucestershire schools’ partnership body, to enable schools 
to have a voice and so that important issues such as school improvement could be driven forward 
collectively. 
 
15. It was recognised that ultimately the consultation was part of the government’s wider agenda of 
moving towards full academisation. It could be implied that the removal of this grant was removing a barrier 
to academisation.  
 
16. The Head of Education Strategy and Development confirmed that work on modelling the potential 
options would continue and further information would be circulated once the outcome of the consultation 
was published - due end of January 2022. 
 
Ends. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
.   

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 43



This page is intentionally left blank



Annex B 
 

Notes of the LA School Improvement Monitoring and Brokering Grant consultation meeting, held on 
Wednesday 2 March 2022.  The meeting was held remotely. 
 
Present: 
Schools Forum Members (maintained representatives):  
David Alexander (Secondary School Headteacher), Elisa Entwistle, (Alternative Provision), Mikey Ezewudo 
(Primary School Governor). 
 
Co-Chair of Gloucestershire Association of Special School Headteachers: 
Lyn Dance (CEO SAND Academies Trust). 
 
Co-Chair of Gloucestershire Association of Primary Headteachers: 
Kerry Cunningham (Headteacher of Longlevens Infant School). 
 
Chairs of the Local Primary Partnerships: Karen Howard: Chair of GSP (Headteacher of Harewood 
Infant School); Jane Farren: Co-Chair of TDP (Headteacher of Norton C of E Primary School); Liam 
Jordan: Co-Chair of TDP (Headteacher of St Mary’s Catholic Primary School). 
 
GCC Officers: Philip Haslett, Head of Education Strategy and Development; Clare Dudman, Head of 
School Improvement; Suzanne Hall, Finance Business Partner; Jo Bolton, Democratic Services Adviser 
and Clerk to the Schools Forum. 
 
Apologies: 
Schools Forum members (maintained representatives): Anne-Marie Delrosa (Secondary School Governor); 
Rhian Evans (Primary School Governor); Amanda Horniman (Primary School Headteacher); Lisa Jones 
(Primary School Headteacher); Becky Martin (Special School Governor); Matthew Bishop (Primary School 
Governor). 
Secondary (maintained) Headteachers: Richard Gilpin (Headteacher of Pittville School); Kieron Smith 
(Headteacher of Archway School); Scott Albon (Headteacher of Barnwood Park School); Pam Wilson 
(Headteacher of Maidenhill School). 
Chair of GASH: Julia Maunder (Headteacher of Thomas Keble School). 
Co-Chair of GASSH: Clare Steel (Headteacher of Alderman Knight School). 
Co-Chair of GAPH: Nikki Hill (Headteacher of Naunton Park Primary School). 
Chairs of the Local Primary Partnerships: Kate Burke: Chair of WGSP (Headteacher of Yorkley Primary 
School); Julie Fellows: Chair of SCSP (Headteacher of Fairford C of E Primary School); Jane Farren: Co-
Chair of TDP) (Norton C of E Primary School); John Jones: Chair of NCSP (Headteacher of Bourton on the 
Water Primary Academy); Jon Millin: Chair of CLP (Headteacher of Shurdington C of E Primary School); 
Debbie Sleep: Chair of SAS (Headteacher of Stroud Valley Community School). 
 
 
1. Local Authority School Improvement Grant 

The Head of Education Strategy and Development, introduced the report and explained that the 
outcome of the consultation published in early January 2022 confirmed that the grant would be 
removed over the next 2 financial years – a 50% reduction in 2022/23 and full removal in 2023/24. 
The timescale of the consultation and the subsequent response had not provided much opportunity to 
address the challenges the removal of the grant created for maintained schools and the LA.  He 
explained that the LA had focussed on exploring options that bridged the immediate funding issue for 
2022/23. The development of a future school improvement offer based around traded options was 
progressing, and the proposed options on the way forward would allow time to ensure that this was 
undertaken effectively to achieve a more sustainable solution for the long-term.  

 
2. The Head of Education Strategy and Development reported that the LA had explored the following 

two options that could in the short-term, fund school improvement services: 
 

 Option 1 - To use de-delegation from maintained schools to recoup the lost funding. The 
use of de-delegation from maintained schools was suggested by the DfE in the consultation 
document.  However, de-delegation had to operate on a per-pupil basis rather than a whole-school 
budget top-slice. The regulations also stated that it must be applied equally to all maintained 

Page 45



schools.  As a result, all maintained schools in Gloucestershire would pay the same amount at a 
rate of approximately £9 per pupil.  He indicated that this would require a compromise across the 
system in recognition that every institution was funded differently (i.e. a small primary school had 
access to a smaller budget and therefore its overall contribution would be less than a secondary 
school’s contribution with a larger budget).  He emphasised that school improvement was a whole 
school activity and as such, a per-pupil funding was a difficult approach to apply equitably for all 
schools.  He acknowledged that there were concerns around this option. 

 
 Option 2 - To bridge the funding gap using a combination of de-delegated balances, the 

central services block, and a reduction in intervention funding that the Local Authority can 
offer to schools.   This option would involve the use of three funding elements to cover the loss of 
grant totalling £320k in 2022/23.  De-delegated balances were forecast to carry a surplus at the 
end of the financial year of £447,000.  Some of this funding (£250k) was ringfenced to cover any 
deficits that may need to be written off due to academy sponsorships. As de-delegated balances 
were forecast to carry a surplus, that had accumulated over a period of time, the LA was able to 
propose that £100k of the surplus be ringfenced to support the loss of the grant.   

 

 The second element of funding would come from the central services block.  The central services 
block had seen a small increase this year and the LA had provisionally ringfenced £160k to 
support the loss of the grant in 2022/23.  The third element would involve a temporary reduction in 
the improvement intervention budgets that the LA used to fund activities/support for schools in 
intervention. This would mean a £100k reduction in budget (broadly 50% of the total budget), and 
would therefore reduce the LA’s capacity to provide those services.  Consequently, the activities 
agreed through the project groups would need to be funded through the school budget.  

 
3. In response to a question, the Head of School Improvement clarified that the school improvement 

intervention budget primarily funded the intervention project groups.  The project groups undertook 
intervention work with maintained schools that had been rated as ‘requires improvement’ or 
‘inadequate’ by Ofsted, or were at risk of falling into one of those categories.   

 
4. She explained that there were approximately 15-20 maintained schools in the county that received 

support from a project group.  A reduction in the school improvement intervention budget may result 
in the LA having to request schools to match fund the support provided, as opposed to the current 
approach of the LA gifting the support.  A headteacher pointed out that schools requiring intervention 
support would most likely be in a challenging financial situation and that rapid school improvement 
intervention could cost a significant sum of money over a short space of time.  The Head of School 
Improvement acknowledged there was a risk that some schools may not be able to bear the cost of 
intervention support; however, the risk was balanced by the LA’s plans to expand the offer and deliver 
an increased school improvement service to schools.  At present, schools were only offered one visit 
per year from a School Improvement Adviser.  An expansion of this service would lead to greater 
intelligence in schools, and more opportunity for LAs to act before performance deteriorated 
significantly and formal intervention became inevitable.   

 
5. The Head of Education Strategy and Development pointed out that there were only a small number of 

maintained schools in Gloucestershire with a deficit budget.  Budget deficits were usually linked to 
pupil numbers, and typically it was smaller schools with less resilience to fluctuations in numbers that 
were affected.  He added that the LA was proposing a 50% reduction in the improvement intervention 
budgets, consequently there would still be funding available to deliver a service, just not at the current 
levels.  It was imperative that the service was prioritised appropriately to ensure the funding was 
targeted at schools that really needed the support.   

 
6. The Head of School Improvement explained that savings could be made in delivering certain aspects 

of the improvement intervention service, such as training, to groups of schools rather than carrying 
out lots of individual sessions.  She was working with her team to ensure that the service was made 
as cost efficient as possible.  She believed that despite a 50% reduction in the budget there remained 
sufficient funding to provide a good level of support; however, there would be times when the LA 
would need to ask a school to make a contribution towards the cost of providing the service, 
particularly in the case of a school with a healthy budget position.  She clarified that schools were not 
obliged to buy-in support for school improvement from the LA, schools could purchase services from 
external partners instead. 

Page 46



 
7. The Head of Education Strategy and Development explained one of the implications of Option 2 was 

that there would be very little contingency in the de-delegated budgets, and subject to de-delegated 
budget performance in 2022/23, this could limit the LA’s ability to support maintained school 
redundancies.  The LA provided financial support to schools that had a challenging financial position 
and were in the process of implementing a staffing restructure.  Over the last financial year the LA 
had worked with a number of schools to cover the cost of staff redundancies.  If the LA was to receive 
a similar number of requests for support from schools in 2022/23, a contribution may need to be 
made from school budgets.  He explained that he was not expecting the level of requests to be as 
high as this year, as it was anticipated that the budgets of maintained schools in Gloucestershire 
would see an increase in 2022/23.  He pointed out that the ESFA did not support academy 
redundancies and therefore it could be implied that there was currently an inequity in the system 
given that maintained schools were receiving support from LAs. 

  
8. He explained there would still be a contribution from schools for the school improvement service, 

under Option 2, just not in the form of a top-slice of funding coming out of every maintained school’s 
budget.  Instead, a contribution would be made at the point in time when a school needed to access 
the support.   

 
9. A headteacher suggested that there was, in effect, a third option, not included in the report, and this 

was for maintained schools to opt not to have the de-delegation amount deducted from their budget 
share, on the basis that it was not a mandatory requirement.  The Head of Education Strategy and 
Development acknowledged that the LA could opt to do nothing to address the loss of the grant, he 
emphasised however that this would result in the school improvement service being stripped back 
significantly and ultimately the removal of the important prevention work taking place.  He was 
therefore of the view that doing nothing to address the loss of the grant would be unpalatable. He 
explained that the best course of action was to use Option 2 to bridge the loss of the grant for one 
year, thus allowing time for the development of a future school improvement offer based around 
traded services.  There was recognition that having oversight of school improvement activity in the 
whole school community, was a statutory function of the LA, and therefore this still had to be funded 
in some way.  

 
10. A headteacher raised the point that the school improvement traded service needed to become more 

accessible, marketable, and ultimately financially independent following the loss of the grant.  It was 
critical that schools were made aware of the support available. The Head of School Improvement 
confirmed that the traded offer was being developed in this way.  Information on the traded service 
would be circulated to schools in the w/c 7 March 2022.  Schools would be asked to provide 
feedback, including information on any other services they required, so that this could be looked at for 
inclusion as part of the offer too.  Information on the cost of each package of support was currently 
being finalised and would be included in the circulation.  Schools would be able to purchase services 
individually, or as part of a group of 5 or more schools - schools would then benefit from economies of 
scale.  

 

11. David Alexander, secondary headteacher, reported that he had consulted with his secondary 
maintained headteacher colleagues on the proposed options and he confirmed that there was no 
support for Option 1.  Kerry Cunningham, primary headteacher, confirmed that there was no support 
for Option 1 from GAPH, and Lyn Dance, special school headteacher, confirmed that GASSH was 
also of that view.  Comments were made that whilst support was leaning towards Option 2, it was 
difficult to provide feedback when it was not yet clear what the traded services offer would look like 
moving forward.   

 
12. It was reported that the basic traded services offer would consist of 3-4 visits from a School 

Improvement Adviser per year, with more enhanced packages of support also available. The service 
would be able to provide schools with Ofsted style reviews if needed.   

 
13. It was acknowledged that Option 2 would mean bridging the funding gap for one year, whilst the 

traded services option was developed.  The Head of Education and Strategy explained that at the 
beginning of next year the LA would need to look at what actions needed to be taken to address full 
removal of the grant in 2023/24.  The traded services offer would be reviewed to determine whether it 
could provide the long-term financial solution needed to address the complete loss of grant. If the 

Page 47



traded offer received sufficient buy-in from schools, then it would not be necessary to make significant 
adjustments to the level of support the school improvement team was able to provide.  It was 
suggested that the traded services offer be given two full years in which to become fully established, 
before a final review on whether it was a sustainable model of support for maintained schools. 

 
14. The Head of Education Strategy and Development confirmed that based on the feedback he had 

received during this meeting, the two options would be put forward for consideration by the Schools 
Forum at its meeting on 30 March 2022.  The Forum would be advised that Option 2 was the 
preferred option.  Option 2 would also specify that the traded services offer would need two years in 
which to become fully established, before a final review was undertaken on whether it was a 
sustainable model of support for maintained schools. 
ACTION: Head of Education Strategy and Development 

 

15. He agreed to look into whether there was sufficient time in the budget approval process to seek the 
Forum’s view at the March meeting, on whether a wider consultation of schools should be 
undertaken, before the Forum made a recommendation to the LA on which option to proceed with.  
He agreed to keep the group informed of progress. 

 ACTION: Head of Education Strategy and Development 
 
Ends 
 

Page 48



GLOUCESTERSHIRE  
SCHOOL IMPROVEMENT OFFER (GLOSSI)

Page 49



SCHOOL IMPROVEMENT OFFER
School Improvement in Gloucestershire is changing

Our direction of travel

During the early part of 2021/22 academic year we began our review of school improvement services in 
Gloucestershire. For a number of years, the focus of our work has been to have an annual conversation 
with the majority of our good and outstanding LA maintained school and more in-depth school 
improvement offer for schools in challenging circumstances. 

Our improved offer is devised in consultation with you, so that we grow and develop an offer which 
fully meets your needs and the aspirations we all have, to raise standards across the county.  

WHY CHOOSE GLOSSI AS YOUR SCHOOL IMPROVEMENT PROVIDER?
• We are a knowledgeable, experienced team of School Improvement Partners comprising a range 

of skills including those of serving headteachers, principals, senior leaders from local authorities, 
experienced leaders of MATs and subject specialists

• We can provide you with the challenge and support you need to move your school forward at a time 
when schools need to be assured that they receive good value for money

• We are able to connect schools, through our knowledge of the county, to the wealth of talent beyond 
the doors of your school and to additional services to meet the portfolio of needs for your school

• We can provide specialist knowledge through a blended approach to the use of advisers to meet the 
requirements of your school improvement plan

• Any surplus income will be used directly to benefit subscribers to develop courses and working groups 
to support the challenges you face across the county

• We are truly by Gloucestershire for Gloucestershire.

Gloucestershire School Improvement Offer (GLOSSI)

Page 50



VISION
To become the first choice for Gloucestershire schools for their school improvement service by building a 
high quality, trusted service which will be honest with and supportive of schools.

To be a network between all those with whom we work whether local authority maintained or academy 
school for the benefit of all Gloucestershire children and young people.

VALUES
Honesty – our aim is always to be open and honest with you

Achievement – We have high aspirations for you and your children and will provide the challenge and 
support you need to achieve and exceed your goals

Partnership – we are equal partners. We are here to provide a catalyst for your success in collaboration 
with you and your team

Professionalism – we will provide you with a professional service on which you can rely

Inspiration – looking at your school with a fresh pair of eyes, and backed by the resources and guidance 
of the whole team, we can support you in finding new ways of achieving success.

PARTICIPATION
As a Gloucestershire team, we will all seek to engage with the wider family of schools. Governance 
of schools, whether LA maintained, academy, primary, secondary, FE, special or alternative provision 
shouldn’t be a barrier. We work together knowing that we all contribute to the success of  
Gloucestershire children.

We seek to be inclusive in approach and acknowledge the responsibility we hold for disadvantaged young 
people including those who are care experienced whether placed inside or outside the county. 

We hope that some leaders will want to become increasingly more involved in the partnership, becoming 
associate advisers. Please contact Clare Dudman, Head of School Improvement  
clare.dudman@gloucestershire.gov.uk for further details.

OUR OFFERS
It is important to us that you receive a high-quality offer at a reasonable price. Our aim is not to 
make a profit but to cover our costs and invest any surplus into school improvement activity for 
the benefit of our members.

By using our services, you know that you are investing in the children of Gloucestershire. Schools 
can opt for one of our school improvement packages below, or for MATs or school improvement 
groups of five or more, we can create a bespoke package for you.

Gloucestershire School Improvement Offer (GLOSSI)

Page 51

mailto:clare.dudman%40gloucestershire.gov.uk?subject=


Subscription level 1
Designed to meet the basic 

school improvement needs of 
all schools

Subscription level 2
Designed for academies and 
LA maintained schools who 
have already purchased an 

alternative package

No subscription

3 headteacher briefings during 
the year for example Ofsted 
updates & keynote speakers/ 
current themes

3 governor briefings during the 
year for example Ofsted updates 
& keynote speakers/ current 
themes

3 adviser visits during the year 
offering challenge, support and 
an accumulative record of visit

1 additional visit which may  
be for headteacher performance 
management or another school 
improvement function such as 
Ofsted preparation or working 
with senior / middle leaders

Telephone/ email support from 
a named School Improvement 
Adviser

Telephone/face to face support 
during an Ofsted inspection

Support from a named adviser 
during headteacher recruitment 
process *

New headteacher induction 
programme *

As part of the package, you  
will be entitled to an annual call 
from our customer  
service team to review the 
support you need over the  
forthcoming year

Special offers on conferences 
and courses

3 headteacher briefings during 
the year for example Ofsted 
updates & keynote speakers/ 
current themes

3 governor briefings during the 
year for example Ofsted updates 
& keynote speakers/ current 
themes

1 keeping in touch visit with a 
written record

Telephone/ email support from 
a named School Improvement 
Adviser

Telephone/face to face support 
during an Ofsted inspection

LA maintained schools receive 
support from a named adviser 
during headteacher recruitment 
process *

New headteacher induction 
programme *

As part of the package, you  
will be entitled to an annual call 
from our customer  
service team to review the 
support you need over the  
forthcoming year

1 keeping in touch visit – not 
formal written record

Access to a school 
improvement inbox for advice 
and guidance

Telephone/face to face support 
during an Ofsted inspection

£2600** £1500**

* Whilst these aspects of the package will be accessed every year, by spreading the cost over a number 
of years, we are able to keep the costs to you very low.

** These prices are for single subscribing schools. We are able to discuss individual needs with schools 
of five or more who commit to buying at the same time.

Page 52



G
C

C
_

3
4

9
7 

 3
.2

2

For schools which are part of a project group, there is an expectation that they will have purchased a 
school improvement package from Glossi or another provider before additional support is given.

Additional days can be purchased by arrangement these might include aspects such as:

 Leadership and management development programmes
 New headteacher bespoke support
 CPD
 Peer reviews
 Teaching and Learning reviews
 Pupil premium reviews
 Reviews of Leadership and Governance
 Research projects

NEXT STEPS:
In order to get an indication of the number of schools requiring support we will be asking for expressions 
of interest in the next few weeks. Whilst this isn’t a commitment at this stage, it will enable us to meet with 
groups of schools to discuss packages of support. 

A commitment for purchase will be made in the summer term.

Gloucestershire School Improvement Offer (GLOSSI)

Page 53



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	4 Minutes
	Minutes
	Action sheet 13 January 2022
	Placements Analysis 2021-22

	5 Early Years
	Schools Forum EY Report Family Hubs March 22
	EY specialist assessmemt  provision proposal

	6 Local Authority School Improvement Grant
	Notes of the Consultation School Improvement Grant meeting - 9 December 2021 - Annex A
	Annex B - Notes of the Consultation School Improvement Grant meeting - 2 March 2022
	GCC_3497 Gloucestershire School Improvement Offer (GLOSSI) Traded Service_Dev2


